
The rffice Polit;cs of 
J. Erlo-ar Hoover 

by Ovid Demaris 

How to win loyalty, how to stay powerful, how to keep everybody guessing 

EntloICE NOTE: In the September 
Esquire. Orid Dentorfs talked with 
Hoover's relotires, close friends, 
and collevuues about the Director's 
private fife, including I og relation ,  
ship with longtime aide ,end cont-
panion. Clyde Tolson. This mouth, 
the concluding installment of De-
morie oral history deals with little-
/mown aspects of Hoover's profes-
sional life. 

hen General Har-
ry Vaughan walked 

into the Maythever 
hotel's Rib Room in 

June. 072. I found 
myself shaking the 

hand of a spry little man with an 
anxious smile. He had come to talk 
to me about J. Edgar Hoover. whom 
he had worked with during the time 
he was Truman's top military aide. 

Vaughan: "About a week after 
Harry Truman became President, 
Matt Connell). !the President's ap-
pointments secretary I culled me 
and said. 'The hoes wants to see you 
in his office, right now.' So I went 
in and there was J. Edgar Hoover. 
The bees said. 'Sit down,' and I sat 
down and they finished what they 
were talking about. Then the Presi-
dent said. -Harry, I culled you over 
here because I want to start off un 
the right foot with Mr. Hoover and 
I want things to work smoothly 
between this office And his. Any-
thing that 1 have to give to Mr. 
Hoover, that I want for his eyes. 
that I want to get his attention, I'll 
give it to you and you'll go over enrl 
put it in his hand.' And he said, 
'Mr. Hoover, when you have any-
thing that you think l should know 
about, you give it to Hurry and 
tell him that you want me to see it 
and he'll hand it to me within an 
hour. That's the way we're going 
to operate.' We did exactly that for 
eight years. 
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"At the time of our first meeting. 
Hoover gave me very specific in-
structieue on how to get to his of-
fice. He said, 'There's going to be a 
lot of talk. you coming to my office. 
my coming Lu your Mice. When you 
come over here, I advise you to 
come in on Pennsylvania, get on the 
elevator. go to the seventh floor. 
walk around to the other bank of 
elevators, go clown to the third 
floor, walk around to this bank of 
elevators, come up to the fifth dour, 
and come into my office. You and I 
have legitimate thinks to talk 
about. It's the President's business. 
it's my business, it's your business. 
It's nobody else's business. Now a 
lot of the press are outside your 
Ake and they'd notice if 1 cams 
over there.' " 

In other wftrda, he ?lever came to 
poor offre. 

Vaughan: "That's right. If I had 
said, 'Now, the President has di-
rected me to tell you so-and-so, how 
about coming over to my office,' I 
think maybe he'd have done it. It 
might have hurt the hell out of him 
hut—" 

Would it hare rained the rela-
tionship? 

Vaughan: "I don't think it would 
have helped it a hell of a lot, and I 
didn't give much of a damn about 
it. We had a good arrangement. The 
minute I got to Hoover's tinkle, that 
little Negro fellow [ Sam Noisette 
would say. 'Come on in, General, 
you can go right in.' Oh, on occa-
sion I might have waited two or 
three minutes, but usually I went 
right in. Our meetings were strict-
ly businese, no social talk, just two 
members of a staff that were one-
tone to cooperate. and I found Hoo-
ver that way all the time." 

Irby did Truman hypass the At-
torney General in his dealings with 
Hoover? 

Vaughan: "Theoretically. the At- 

torney General is over the F.B.I., 
but in practice the F.B.I. is an in-
dependent agency. The reason was 
that Hoover wee such a dynamic 
personality. By 19.15, Hoover had 
already established his position in 
terms of power and import:ince. 
don't think there was any doubt 
about it." 

Was it because of the firs? 
Vaughan: "The files, of course, 

were important. They were a tool." 
Were they intimidatin,q? 
Vaughan: "To certain people. Pm 

sure there wale a hell of a lot in 
there about me, hut it didn't con-
cern me a damn hit. I'm sure they 
made some of the bastards on the 
Hill walk more carefully. They nev-
er bothered Truman. ‘Vhen he had 
occasion to disagree with Hoover. 
and strongly, he didn't hesitate to 
do it." 

Could our describe an incident? 
Vaughan: "Sure. Hoover was so 

successful with the F.B.I. national-
ly that he wanted to take over for-
eign duties. He wanted to expand 
the F.B.I. to foreign activities. Tru-
man created the Central Intelli-
gence Agency to great protest from 
Hoover, who wanted to take it over 
as an auxiliary of his organization. 
Truman said no. I heard him say 
that one man shouldn't operate 
both. 'He gets too big for his 
britches. Hoover's got plenty to do. 
he's done a great job, he'll continue 
to do a great job in the United 
States as the F'.R.I., but the C.I.A. 
is a separate organization and 
should be under [fitter ent auspices.' 
Hoover was very provoked by that, 
and he tried to argue with the 
President. giving his pitch about 
his organization. that it was °Per-
ating smoothly. that it could he ex-
panded more easily- than starting a 
new organization. Truman never 
refused to listen to an argument, 
but once he made up his mind. that 

2. 	11..mmerittai---,,,  - 	 . 	. 



from beneath one of the sterile towels that border the 
operating field. For a moment one does nut really see 
it. or eke denies the sight, so impossible it is. march-
ing precisely. heading briskly toward the ()lien wound. 

Drawn from its linen lair, where it snuggled in the 
steam of the great sterilizer, and survived. it comes. 

i Clan r and chaser, it hurries toward the incision. Ant. 
art hou in the grip of some fatal irres$e? Wouldst 
hurt e over these scarlet cliffs into the very boil of the 
gutsl? Art mad for the reek we handle? Or in some 
seer it act of formication engaged? 

T e alarm is sounded. An ant!-An ant! And we are 
unnerved. Our fear of defilement is near to frenzy. It 
is not the mere physical contamination that we loathe. 
It is the evil of the interloper, that he scurries across 
our holy place, and filthier our altar. He is disease-- 
that for whose destruction we have gathered. Power-
less to destroy the- sickness before us, we turn to its 
incarnation with a vengeance, and pluck it from the 
lip of the incision in the nick of time. Who would 
have thought an ant could move so fast? 

Between thumb and forefinger. the intruder is 
crushed. It dies- as quietly as it lived. Ali:  but now 
there is death in the room. It is a perversion of our 
purpose. Albert Schweitzer would have spared it, 
scooped it tenderly into his hand, and lowered it to 
the ground. 

The corpselet is abetted into the specimen basin. The 
gloves are changed. New towels and sheets are placed 
where it walked. We are pleased to have dune some-
thing, if only a small killing. The operation resumes. 
and we draw upon ourselves once more the sleeves of 
office and rank. Is our reverence for life in question? 

In the room the instruments lie on trays and tables. 
They are arranged precisely by the scrub nurse. iu an 
order that never changes, so that you can reach blindly 
fur a forceps nr hemostat without looking away from 
the operating field. The instruments lie them? Even al. 
the beginning. when all is clean and tidy and no 
blood has been spilled. it is the scalpel that dominates. 
It has a figure the others do not have, the retractors 
and the scissors. The scalpel is all grace and line, n 
fierceness. It grins. It is like a cat. To be respected, 
deferred to, but which returns no amiability. To hold 
It above a belly is to know the knife's force—as 
though were you to give it slightest rein, it would 
pursue an intent of its own, driving into the flesh, a 
wild energy. 

In a story by Borges. a deadly knife fight between 
two rivals is depicted. It is not, however, the men who 
are lighting. It is the knives themselves that are set-
tling their own idd score. The men who hold the knives 
are mere adjuncts to the weapons. The unguarded 
knife is like the unbridled war-horse that not only 
carries its helpless rider to his death, but tramples all 
beneath its heaves. The hand of the surgeon must tame 
this savage thing. He is a rider reining to capture a 
pace. 

So close is the joining of knife and surgeon that 
they are like the Centaur—the knife, below, all equine 
energy, the surgeon. above, with his delicate art. One 
holds the knife back as much as advances it to purpose. 
One is master of the scissors. One is partner, some-
times rival, to the knife. In a moment it is like the 
long red fingernail of the Dragon Lady. Thus does the 
surgeon curb in order to create. restraining the scal-
pel, governing it shrewdly, setting the action of the 
operation into a pattern. giving it form and purpose. 

It is the nature of creatures to live within a tight 
cuirass that is both their constriction and their pro- 

tection. The carapace of 
the turtle is his fortress 
and retreat, yet keeps him 
writhing on his back in 
the sand. So is the sur-
geon rendered impotent 
by his own empathy and 
compassion. The surgeon 
cannot weep. When he 
cuts the flesh, his own 
must not bleed. Here it is 
all work. Like an asth-
matic hungering for air. 

onging to take just one deep breath, the surgeou 
struggles nut to feel. It is suffocating to press the 
feeling nut. It Would be easier to weep or mourn. For 
you know that the lovely precise world of proportion 
contains, just beneath, there, all disaster, all disorder. 
In a surgical operation, a risk may flash into reality: 
the patient dies . . . of complication. The patient 
knows this toe, in a more direct and personal way, and 
he is afraid. 

And what of that other. the patient, who is brought 
to the operating room on a stretcher. haviue 'seen 
washed and purged and dressed in a white gown? 
Fluid drips from a bottle into his arm, diluting him. 
leaching his body of its personal brine. As he waits in 
the corridor, he hears from behind the closed door the 
angry clang of steel upon steel, as though a battle 
were being waged. There is the odor of antiseptic and 
ether, and masked women hurry up and down the halls. 
in and nut of rooms. There is the watery sound of 
strange machinery, the tinny beeping that is the trans-
mitted heartbeat.  of yet another !roman being. And all 
the while the dreadful knowledge that soon you will 
be taken, laid beneath great lamps that will reveal the 
secret linings of your body. In the very act of lying 
down. you have made a declaration of surrender. One 
lies down gladly for sleep or for love. But to give over 
one's body and will for surgery, to lie df,Jrn, for it. is a 
yielding of more than we can bear. 

Soon a man will stand over you, gowned -and hooded. 
In time the man will take up a knife, and crack open 
your flesh like a ripe melon. Fingers will rummage 
among your viscera. Parts of you will be cut out. 
Blood will run free. Your blood. All the night before 
you have turned with the presentiment of death upon 
you. You have attended your funeral, wept with your 
mourners. You think, "I should never have had surgery 
in the springtime." It is too cruel. Or on a Thursday. 
It is an unlucky day. 

Now it is time. You are wheeled in and moved to 
the table. An injection is given. "Let yourself go." I 
say. "It's a pleasant sensation," I say. "Give in," I say. 

Let go? Give in? When you know that you are being 
tricked into the hereafter, that you will end when 
consciousness ends? As the monstrous silence of anes-
thesia falls discourteously across your brain, you 
watch your soul drift off. 

Later, in the recovery room, you awaken and gaze 
through the thickness of drugs at the world returning, 
and you guess, at first dimly, then surely, that you 
have not died. In pain and nausea you will know the 
exultation of death averted, of life restored. 

What it, it, then, this thing, the knife, whose shape is 
virtually the same as it was three thousand years ago. 
but now with its head grown detachable? Before steel. 
it was bronze. Before bronze. stone—then back into 
unremembered tame. Did (Continued ors page 210, 
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Rule One: Never go to their of-
fices, make them come to yours. 
Stay on your own turf—this puts 
you in control of the situation. 

4' 
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was it. He said no, and when Hoo-
ver persisted, he said, • You're get-
ting out-of-bounds.' I think Hoover 
was smart enough to agree to it. He 
didn't like it because he had great 
ideas about his international im-
portance. He was an egotistic little 
guy, there's no doubt about that. He 
thought nobody could be as right 
as Hoover un any particular sub-
ject, which was a difficult thing to 
combat." 

What kind of a wan was Tom 
Clark? 

Vaughan : "I'll tell you why he 
left the Supreme Court. That might 
indicate to you the kind of man he 
is. He made a deal with President 
Johnson. Johnson wanted a vacancy 
on the Supreme Court so he could 
appoint a Negro. which would give 
him some prestige in the Fourth 
Ward or something. So Tom Clark 
created a vacancy by resigning 
from the Court so they could ap-
pfiint Thurgooti Marshall. And the 
deal was that Johnson would ap-
point his sun Ramsey Attorney 
General."  

What kind of Attorney GelitTfli 
rens Toot Cluek? 

Vaughan: "I think he was a very 
good one." 

Didn't litweer ride rownlothod 
over him? 

Vaughan: "I don't know if you 
could say that he rode roughshod. 
but Toni Clark didn't tell Hume'.  
what to do. He didn't mess with 
him at all. He let Hoover run his 
own show, At least, that's my opin-
ion. Actually. I don't think Harry 
Truman would have appointed Tom 
Attorney General if he hadn't had 
his arm twisted by Sam Rayburn 
and Turn Connally from Texas. You 
know these Texans, oh how they 
stick together." 

Did Hoover provide Truman with 
reports on the personal habits of 
weathers of the Administration? 

Vaughan: "When we went in, the 
F.B.I. had about a dozen phone taps 
on various people in Washington. 
and they used to give me a report 
on the phone converaations. Fur 
example, they hail one on Tommy 
Corceran, you know. Tommy the 
('w'k, Nvho was a lawyer here %viol 
was on Roosevelt's kitchen cabinet. 
He's an influence peddler. and for 
some reason Roosevelt was II little 
auspicious of him and had the 
F.B.I. put a tap on him. When these 
reports started coming in, I said, 
'What the hell is this?.  and they 
said, 'This is a wiretap on so-and-
so,' and I said, 'Who erdered it V 
and they said. 'Oh. that's been go-
ing on for six months, three 
months,' or what have you. 1 told  

the President, 'I'm getting these re-
ports. I read them over and it's the 
most dull, deadly stuff—Mrm. Corco-
ran calls up the grocer and orders 
this, she calls her hairdresser.' 
'Well. I don't give a goddamn 
whether Mrs. Corcoran gets her 
hair fixed or don't get her hair 
fixed.' Harry told me. 'What the hell 
is that crap?' I said, 'That's a wire-
tap,' He said, 'Cut them all off. Tell 
the F.B.I. we haven't got any time 
for that kind of shit.'  " 

Do you think Hoorrr and Tolson 
were hOturulexpraim? 

Vaughan: "Oh, no!" 
What makes you so positive? 
Vaughan: "Welt, because he was 

a red-blooded, virile individual. 1 

can imagine that I might be in a 
job like that, having an old college 
classmate of mine associated with 
me, and we'd be living together. In 
fact, one time I heard a member of 
the press say that the reason that 
Harry Truman and his staff spent 
two weeks down at Key West with-
out their wives was because 'most 
of those bastards are homosex-
uals.' " 

visited Tom C. Clark in his 
Supreme Court office in Wash-
ington. The fact that Hoover 
had called his son Ramsey it 
"jellyfish" and the worst At-
torney General in his experi- 

ence had no visible effect on Clark's 
reflections on the Director: 

Tom Clark : "I don't believe I 
ever saw Mr. Hoover at the White 

House the whole time I was Attor-
ney General."  

Hoover trent throroth yule in 
those days? 

Tom Clark: "He wouldn't go 
through me but he had a man over 
there. I'm not sure but I think he 
had one there in Roosevelt's time. 
The idea :vas that if any problems 
came up on matters that Hoover 
was handling that involved the 
White House, or what he thought of 
some national program, or that had 
national aspects, he'd send copies 
of memoranda to the President. 
Then the President usually sent it 
on over to me. Of course, 1 already 
had a copy but I got so many copies 
that I couldn't read them all—it 

would have taken twenty-four hours 
a day. I had my assistant read ail 
mine and he'd give me what he 
thought I should see, what was im-
portant enough for me to.see." 

Was your relationship with Mo-
yer friendly? 

Turn Clark: "We had dinner to-
gether many times. Most of the 
time when I went with him it would 
be to Harvey's. He was out to our 
house two or three times. Hoover 
wax not one to go out much socially 
but we'd meet at rare intervals at 
somebody's place in the evening. 
But nearly all the contacts I hail 
with Mr. Hoover were either in my 
office or his. When I was an assist-
ant it would be mostly in his. After 
I became Attorney General I in 
1945 I. they were practically all in 
my office." 

mustn't/a by Bob Schulenberg 
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Rule Two: Maintain absolute confi-
dence in your judgments and your 
opinions. Give in to nobody but your su-
perior—and then only as a last resort. 

••• 

' Did ifoocrr ever supply goo with 
mi Cabinet members? 

T. Clark: "If you mean by dos-
.ier a repert on tine person, no. he 
heter did. Many times in reports 
lie might have a paragraph or two. 
Be didn't like Mr. Morgenthati. for 
example. and he might take a dig at 
hint. or he might indicate there 
were queers in the State Depart-
ment, but as far as having a dossier 
that was devoted to one person, I 
never saw one of those in my life. 
%in any person." 

understand President Johnson 
rer in red same. 

Tom Clark: "I rather think, 
knowing Hoover as I do, that he 
wouldn't do that unless someone in-
dicated that it might be helpful." 

Did you hare to appro Pe all wire-
taps and buys used in internal-secu-
rity cases in those days? 

Tom Clark: "Thee started during 
the time of Attorney General Cum-
mings. He made arrangements with 
the telephone company to put in a 
tap on a phone. That was just be-
fore we went into the war, about 
1037 or '38, along in there. But 
there was a Supreme Court case 
outlawing evidence obtained by a 
wiretap so we would not use any 
evidence we got on a wiretap in a 
prosecution. Then when Mr. Mur-
phy succeeded Cummings. I suppose 
that they continued that arrange-
ment and then during the war I 
know that Mr. Roosevelt arranged 
to continue the operation with Mr. 
Biddle. When I came in, Mr. Hoover 
asked me to write a letter which he 
had drafted to the White House 

asking them to continue the ar-
rangement, which I did. The ar-
rangement was that he would make 
taps that didn't have to be used as 
evidence—say it was internal se-
curity and things of that kind. It 
was largely up to Mr. Hoover es to 
whether he thought there was a 
necessity fur it. But I used to get 
queried by so many Congressmen 
when I'd come up on the Hill and 
appear before a committee and 
they'd- ask whether so-and-so's 
phone was tapped that I turned all 
of mine over to Mr. Ford who was 
my assistant. And I told him 1 
didn't want to know who was 
tapped and who wasn't tapped. I 
was Attorney llenerid for about 
four years and after Mr. Ford took 
over, I didn't know anything about 
the taps, When I first came in I 
asked for a list of the taps because 
I wanted to see what was going on 
I don't think there were any more 
than there are now. 

"After the war Mr. Hoover start-
ed what you might call his Cum-
muniet program. As you know. Mr. 
Roosevelt was one who worked with 
the Russians in the war and he had 
a pretty close arrangement with 
them, And Mr. Hoover had an idea 
that the Communists were pretty 
strong. I rather thought that he 
overexaggerated it. which I used to 
tell him all the time, but he devel-
oped a subversion section. This was 
at about the time the Iron Curtain 
got started, I'd say along about 
194e. He spent considerable money 
on subversive activities. I don't 
know just what percent he spent,  

but I'd say compared to other spe-
cific programs it was large. Then 
he accentuated it from time to time 
and it grew into its height soon 
after I came here to the Court lin 
19491. During all that time. I got 
hundreds of memoranda which I 
had my assistant screen. You see. 
Hoover was one that always wanted 
to put everybody on notice, so he'd 
send you a memorandum and they'd 
all he on your regular F.B.I. onion-
skin form." 

Was he sincere in his belief that 
communism was n threat to the 
freedom of this country. or was he 
a man who engaged in hyperbole to 
feather his awn nest? 

Tom Clark: "He was sold on it. 
Mr. Hoover never spoke in hyper-
bole. He was a very sincere man. If 
he decided that -something was bad. 
he went after it. I used to laugh 
with hint about it. As a matter of 
fact. this dub in New York—
Saints and Sinners—had a program 
one time that I was on. They had at 
skit and an actor played Mr. Hoo-
ver's part. He and I were in my of-
fice and looking around, under my 
desk and stuff like that, to see if 
there were any Communists hiding. 
It was sort of a reflection of an at-
titude many people hart towards 
Mr. Hoover's activities in the Com-
munist field, and it was highly ex-
eggerated. He admitted himself 
that only about one percent of these 
people were really bad, but in pub-
lic I think he said ten percent. You 
have to remember that it was a 
small group that overthrew the 
Russian government. That was his 
attitude. But most of the cases we 
had I thought were somewhat 
squeezed oranges. I didn't think 
there was much to them. And while 
some of these people often talked in 
terms of overthrow. they didn't 
have the means or the capacity at 
all to bring it about. I prosecuted 
the r Eugene I.  Dennis case I  the top 
eleven members of the domestic 
Communist Party and we won it. 
and we had some secondary cases. 
but I didn't think they were really 
such strong cases. Then it gradual-
ly petered out after McCarthy's 
time." 

Was lee tenacious in seelenbt pros-
ecution in certain rases—for exam-
ple the Judith Copilot case? 

Tom Clark: "Well, no. He'd send 
you the memos. Of course, many 
times those matters would be re-
turned to U.S. attorneys. We have 
ninety-four of them. If it was at na-
tional case like Dennis, he'd prob-
ably take it op with the Attorney 
General, but Most of the time he'd 
take it up with the assistant who 
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handled that particular business. 
They might take it up with the At-
torney General. but nrdinarily the 
Attorney General would never even 
hear about it unless they got into 
trouble." 

Since he was so gotek fr. censurr 
his own men, do you think he was 
ever COMO red by an Attorney Gen-
eral when the F.B.I. goofed as they 
did Itt the. Califon ease? 

Tom Clark: "I doubt. it. It hap-
pened to me in the Ameresia case 
when I was an assistant. The F.B.I. 
went over here and went into Har-
vard Hall without any warrants at 
all and cased this apartment. I 
didn't know a thing about it until 
after I filed the case and the people 
filed a motion to quash all this evi-
dence on the grounds that they'd 
gotten it without any search war-
rant. So then the F.B.I. told me 
about it and we dismissed the case." 

Would you .leort a letter of cen-
sure or ignorr it? 

Tom Clark: "I don't remember 
sending any letter of censure. I 
used to kid with hint about it. I 
thought he was a little off base on 
this Communist thing. I don't know 
what other Attorneys General did. 
I rather think. though. that begin-
ning perhaps in the Thirties Hoo-
ver had pretty clear sailing. He was 
told by Mr. Stone [Hoover's first 
boss in the Justice Department I in 
192.1 that he would have freewheel-
ing and I think it would be fair to 
say he had freewheeling for the 
rest of his life. 

"He was pretty powerful in 1i137 
when I came in. He occupied a high 
position with governmental people 
and I think he had all the Federal 
backing then that he had later. He 
had his vintage bulletproof car and 
stuff like that. He gave me his bul-
letproof car when I became Attor-
ney General. As you know, we 
couldn't get ears during the war. I 
think he had that car ten years be-
fore he told me I could have it. It 
had big windows." steel around the 
inside lining, had a telephone. but 
the anly trouble was that it was so 
damn heavy the motor was too light 
to carry it around and it would 
break down a lot I used it for two 
or three years." 

Do yon think he thonght he need-
ed that kind of protection? 

Tom Clark: "I never talked to 
him about it. I don't know how he 
felt about it. I don't think he did. 
Hoover went around a lot and in the 
time I've known him, he had a 
chauffeur. The only time I ever 
saw him using the car was coming 
to work and going home. Oh, once 
or twice we went out to Laurel to a  

horse rare. It was very seldom that 
I'd be able to go with him. lie went 
to the races quite a Lit. I rather 
think he had agents watching him 
the whole time. Everywhere I went. 
they always had two F.B.I. men." 

Pre been told that Tolson knew 
more ulonot the operation of the 
Bureau than Hoover did, that he 
was the brains behind Hoover's 
8 access. 

Torn Clark: "I doubt it. Hoover 
had a succession of top people. I 
don't know of anybody who was 
able to surround himself with such 
capable people as Edgar Hoover. 
Tup-notch Atka. In fact, all the time 
I was down there, which was about 
twelve years altogether. I never met 
un F.B.I. man who wasn't well 
above average. They were outstand-
ing. 1 don't know how he did it—
attracted people. I don't know 
whether he did it, or whether he 
had somebody else do it, but he had 
a knack for selecting the best ones." 

We know that Mover was up-to-
date on technology. bat do you think 
he motored iutcllerfomlly? Weren't 
his views of the radicals of the 
Twenties similar to his views of the 
Panthers and Seortett of friday? 

Tom Clark: "He thought that the 
Black Panthers was an organization 
hat was inimicuble to the peace 
nd security of the United States. 

He would have no compunction 
about tapping their wires ur doing 
anything else to catch them. He 
excused himself on the ground that 
he was in the end effecting a good 
result." 

I put the same question to Ramsey 
Clark. 

Ramsey Clark: "That's very hard 
to say. There were changes and the 
changes may indicate that he didn't 
grow. For instance, he opposed 
wiretapping for many years. If I 
had to guess—and this is one of 
those things you can never really 
know—I would guess that an ide-
ology overcame a professional in-
vestigative judgment. and that's 
what caused him to turn to favor 
the use of wiretaps. Or if not to 
favor them in any strongly nffirma-
tive sense, at least to concede their 
value. That would probably indi-
cate a lack of growth, a hardening 
of an ideology that was in a sense 
disabling from a professional in 
vestigator's standpoint. You don't 
really think of Mr. Hoover as a man 
of intellectual interests. I don't 
really think of him as a book read-
er or an historian. He was interest-
ed in anecdotes and personalities. 
but his intellectual interests, in my 
experience, were quite limited." 

• I was referring particularly to 
hie attitodr toward radical mace-
meats. Do goon think he ecer appre-
ciated Mc importance of social pro-
text in it demorracy, or did he al-
ways view if us a disease of sonic 
kind? 

Ramsey Clark: "My guess would 
be that however he may have dis-
approved of it, he understood the 
protest of the Teens and the Twen-
ties because those were the years 
that hiS personal viewpoints were 
crystallizing, but he really could not 
understand, or even try to under-
stand, the later incidents." 

1C oming back to Toni 
- 	Clark, I asked him about 

Hoover's famous crack 
that his son. Ramsey. 
was a "jellyfish." 

Tom Clark: "His ex-
pression of 'jellyfish' wasn't that 
Ramsey was wobbly at all but that 
he wouldn't prosecute in certain 
cases, that he'd take a strong posi-
tion and would turn down a prose-
cution at the outset. Sometimes it 
fellow looks guilty but you just 
can't prove it by running around 
like a bull in a china closet and try-
ing to prosecute. It's a whole int 
better for a prosecutor to exercise 
discretion and say, Well, I'm going 
to give him the benefit of the doubt. 
I'm not going to prosecute.' I'm sat-
isfied that Hoover, like ail prosecu-
tors. picked out some cases that eatl 
some lure and some front-page 
stories on them, and I'm sure that 
not all of them were prosecutable. 

"Hoover was critical of most At-
torneys General. He didn't like 
Frank Murphy at all. He was the 
only Attorney General I ever knew 
who got Hoover to go places with 
him. He knew that Hoover was a 
bit of an attraction. Hoover told me 
one time that they were having a 
parade at some military installa-
tion out West, and through some 
mistake. someone turned on the 
sprinkler system. and Murphy had 
on a white suit and he just looked 
like he'd been in a bathtub by the 
time they could get it turned off. 
looser used to criticize Biddle all 
the time when I was the assistant. 
very bitterly. I don't think he ever 
held out on anybody. He told every-
body what he thought. He didn't 
like Biddle's prosecutive policy. He 
thought he was too soft." 

If you, were going to sum it up. 
what would you say were the snore-
es of Hnorcr's poorer? 

Toni Clark: "I think his power 
sprang from the efficient. dedicated 
way in which he, twenty-four hours 
a day, carried out his responsibili- 
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Rule Three: Develop direct lines of com-
munication to the Big Boss. Find ways 
of going over the heads of your immedi-
ate superiors—with little or no friction. 

if  

ties. And I think you can get to the 
point in the minds of people who 
know you where you can do no 
wrung. When you have so many 
rights, people get to the point where 
if the name Hoover is connected 
with it, that's it. So I rather think 
that from the very inception of it. 
he had a pretty wise attitude. Mr. 
Stone and he built the agency by 
the selecting of top-notch people. 
Hoover built an esprit de corps, an 
idealism, a hardworking, dedicated 
person. Incorruptible. In that way 
he built up his strength, and then 
eventually you can get so much 
power that no one will go against 
you. That's about the way it is, I 
think. I don't think there was any 
deceit on his part. He would take 
each case as it came along and do 
the best possible job he could on it. 
He was very efficient and he was 
surrounded by dedicated people, and 
us a consequence the resulting prod-
uct was usually high-class." 

s of this writing. Patricia 
Collins has worked for 
sixteen Attorneys Gener-
al. The first time she 
was introduced to Rob-
ert Kennedy, she told 

him that he was nine years old 
when she first came to the Depart-
ment. "He was bowled over." she 
recalled, "and forever after when 
he used to see me, he'd say, 'You 
know, this is Miss Collins. She came 
here when I was nine years old.' So 
we got to be great friends, and, oh, 
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he was such a great friend to me 
when my late husband was very, 
very ill." 

When do you think. Hoover began 
dealing directly trith the White 
House? 

Collins: "I think the end run 
around the Attorney General to the 
White House began in the Truman 
Administration. There was much 
closer liaison between Roosevelt and 
Cummings and Jackson and Biddle, 
so that things came to this Depart-
ment. handwritten notes from the 
President to the Attorney General. 
How it developed later, I don't 
know. I think Torn Clark was per-
haps intimidated by Hoover. I don't 
think he and Hoover were ever on a 
very even conversing basis." 

Hare you heard the story that 
President Johnson agreed to make 
Ramsey Clark Attorney General if 
Tom resigned from the Supreme 
Court? 

Collins: "Yes, and you almost felt 
that there had to be some kind of 
deal. My own feeling is that Toni 
was happy to get off the Court. 1 
think the sepulchral atmosphere 
over there got to him. When Tom 
was in the A.G.'s office, it was a 
very, very active place. He was 

making speeches all the time, the 
comings and goings, my God, peo-
ple were sitting out there in droves 
waiting to see Tom ('lark. I was in 
the office directly across the way 
then and I used to write speeches 
now and again and do various 
things that we had to do to keep it  

running. Suddenly Tom Clark goes 
over to the Supreme Court. he gets 
in an office, he's got a couple of peo-
ple in the outer office, and nobody 
ever sees him. They say that when 
the phone rang, he'd grab it and 
say, 'Hello,' He was dying to talk to 
somebody. Tom is a very gregarious 
person." 

Did you ever know Himecr social-
ly? 

Collins: "During the Herb 
Brownell administration, we would 
have a big get-together once a year. 
a really elegant turnout, black tie. 
And a couple of times, I drew Mr. 
Hoover as a dinner partner, and he 
was everything that you would ask 
of a gentleman, always very gallant. 
One time I remember he drew Si-
mon Sobeloff's wife. Irene, who was 
very chic and such great fun when 
she was younger. She was able to 
kid people in a kind of poker-faced 
way. She always used to take Edgar 
on, and we used to tease them con-
siderably about how they were so 
stuck on each other. One night. she 
took her shoes off and started sing-
ing Pistol Parkin' Mama for the 
entertainment of everybody and 
Hoover joined with her. It was real-
ly quite a show. Oh. yes, he was 
always great fun when he was at 
these parties. I'm sure you've heard 
people say he was a great practical 
joker. I knew that more by reputa-
tion and whenever I teased him 
about it, he would reply to the ef-
fect, 'Well, certainly, and why not 
if you get fun out of it?' " 

ack in 1951 the hottest 
section in the Depart-
ment of Justice was In-
ternal Security. °It was 
like Organized Crime to-
day," William Hundley. 

who worked for the section and who 
is now a private attorney. recalled 
when I interviewed him in June. 
1972. "Everybody went into Inter-
nal Security, and I actually got put 
into what they called Smith Act 
cases. You might remember that we 
used to run around prosecuting all 
these Communists. They had al-
ready tried the Dennis case up in 
New York, the big landmark Com-
munist case that Hoover really 
wanted prosecuted. After  they won 
it, they decided to branch out and 
indict the leaders of the Communist 
Party in virtually every city in the 
United States. We had cooperation 
from the F.B.I. that was unbeliev-
able. They would assign all agent to 
every defendant and anything you 
wanted would be done. They made 
agents available, they made infor-
mants available, anything. They 



really wanted to win these cases. 
"Hoover was always very ideo-

logical about the domestic Commu-
nist Party, and he was really gong 
ho for that, he really put out. There 
was no question in his mind that 
Godless, atheistic, monolithic com-
munism was a threat. And. of 
course, they won a lot of cases, and 
then the Court got into the act and 
threw them all out. What it all add-
ed up to is hard to say. I would 
honestly think that the pluses were 
outweighed by the minuses. I mean. 
most of the American domestic 
Communists that I prosecuted. for 
Christ's sake, the only thing they 
ever threw was a pamphlet. Any-
way, Internal Security :darted to 
die off. In 1958. I went over to be 
chief of the Organized Crime Sec-
tion--remember the Apaluchin 
meeting? tflien that hit there was 
only a couple of guys in the O.C. 
Section clipping newspapers. There 
was absolutely nothing going on in 
the Justice Department. Apparently 
the Internal Revenue Service had 
done something back in the lie-
Mover days. and Immigration, and 
they all get hit on the head so no-
body was doing anything. The Bu-
reau certainly wasn't doing any-
thing. It came as quite a shuck to 
me. I had come out of Internal Se-
curity where you had agents com-
ing out of your ears, and get over 
into Organized Crime and you 
couldn't find an agent." 

Why woe Hoorcr opposed to or-
yanized■crinie in'egtigntifM? 

Hundley: 	we gut into this 
at the Princeton seminar on the 
F.B.I. and nobody really came up 
with an answer. Everbody had dif-
ferent theories as to why the F.B.I. 
really had to be brought into orga-
nized crime kicking and screaming. 
Some of the ex-agents felt that 
Hoover didn't, first of all, want to 
get into it because his statistics 
would go down. You know, the cases 
would be harder to make. Some of 
them said he didn't want to put his 
agents into a position where they 
could be corrupted, have them deal-
ing with gamblers and hooda. Oth-
era :aid that he got himself locked 
in beeanse he got in a big pissing 
match with Harry Anslinger over 
at Narcotics, whom he didn't like. 
and Anslinger had the Mafia com-
ing up out of the sewers the same 
way Hoover had the Communists 
coming up out of the sewers. So 
Hoover got himself locked in saying 
there was no Mafia. It wall probably 
a conennatien of everything, but lie 
Just wasn't in it. There isn't tiny 
doubt. no matter what he said, he 
wasn't in it. He had no intelligence, 

he didn't know what the hell was 
going on." 

Hoof'er's defense lens that lie 
didn't hare the Federal laws to 
fight organised crime until MI. 

Hundley: "In a certain sense. 
there is some truth to that. But 
they always had an intelligence 
function over there, that's what 
they relied en, that's what they rely 
on now with all this peace stuff. It's 
Inexcusable for them to say they 
couldn't have been using that func-
tion to at least be aware of what 
the hell is going on. I mean, how 
can you have the top Investigative 
agency in the world and have all 
these top hoods meeting up in Apa-
lachin and they didn't even know 
about it. Then you get into the idea 
that Hoover was a good bureaucrat. 
When he found nut that Bob Ken-
nedy was coming in and that he was 
kind of hot on this, he knew he had 
to do something." 

As I reran. when Bob Kennedy 
was cou»sel for the McClellan Com-
mittee. he complained vigorously 
that the F.B.I. and the Justice De-
portment were lost Shit/fling papers 
bark timid forth and weren't doing 
anything (Mont organized crime. 

Hundley: "Here's what happened. 
I was chief of the O.C. Section un-
der Bill Rogers, and Courtney 
Evans was chief of the section over 
in the F.B.I.. and ha had a pretty 
good relationship with Bob. When-
ever the F.B.I. would tell Bob they 
couldn't do anything fur the com-
mittee. they always used to say 
that it was the decision of the Jus-
tice Department—that's why I be-
came the big sun of a bitch. The 
first thing Bub did when he came in 
as Attorney General was to fire me. 
He said. 'Look. I've been too critical 
of you. I don't have anything per-
sonal against you, but nothing's 
been done down here and I'm going 
to bring in my own guy and you'll 
have to go.' If I'd had a job to go 
to, I'd have gone, but I was rather 
surprised so I stayed on as a special 
assistant and had more fun than I 
ever did. I tried the Keogh and the 
Goldfine cases. Let me back up a bit 
here. In 1958. after Apalachin. Bill 
Rogers brought in Milton Wessel. a 
very bright guy, to head a special 
group to tight organized crime. 
Then all this infighting started and 
apparently Wessel really incurred 
the wrath of the Director, and he 
was shot down. Well, at the end of 
1958, never officially, but through 
known agents and things like that. 
I found out that they'd started, no 
a very selective basis, to put bugs 
in. Apparently the Bureau drew 

lsome distinction between bugs and  

wiretaps—only the Bureau could 
draw a distinction like this. For 
wiretaps, they always got the At-
torney General's signature. Bugs 
they didn't. It's pretty weird. Some-
times the bugs were put in the 
phone, if they could get them in, so 
they could pick up both ends. Now 
if you ever asked them officially. 
they'd say no, but believe me. I 
knew. They were doing some of it 
Out in Chicago, in New York—I 
think somewhere internally a tied 
sitm was made that organized crime 
was heating up and they didn't have 
any informants so they'd better do 
something to catch up. and that's 
what they started to do. When they 
learned that Bob was going to be 
Attorney General, they really 
spread nut. That's when they start-
ed doing this bugging on a massive 
scale. 

-I saw them start to operate in 
Organized Crime like they'd oper-
ated in Internal Security. Little 
things—you'd meet an agent out in 
the field, and I'd say, 'Where the 
hell were you last night?' And he'd 
say, 'Christ, I almost got catteht 
climbing out of a geddamn win-
dow.' Putting a bug in, see. But 
down here in Washington, if you 
asked them officially, they elweys 
said no. And it wasn't a case of 
where they bragged about it or 
went out of their way to tell any-
body what they were doine. Now, 
when it came to wiretaps. I knew in 
the internal-security field that they 
went to the Attorney-  General and 
got his okay. Hoover didn't want to 
stick his neck out, so I just figured. 
well, look, Hoover's a smart guy. 
he's been around a long time, so I 
figured that when he started in 
1958 that he got Bill Rogers to okay 
them in writing. But he never did. 
And then when Kennedy came in 
and he started enlarging, my guess 
was that he had gone to Bobby, that 
he had him sign every time he had 
a bug put in." 

Not only did gnu know that they 
were bugging, you were seeing el-i-
dence of it. Weren't you getting in-
Ingiantimi that they roaldn't hare 
gotten (In!! Faber trfly? 

Hundley: "Weil. yes. but that's a 
little more complex too. They sent 
very little of the bug information 
over. Now and then they'd put 
something in a report and for what 
it's worth, they would always try 
to disguise it so you wouldn't know. 
I guess if you've knocked around as 
long as I have in Ipternat Security, 
well, I could spot it quicker than 
anybody else. and I'd get a couple 
of them to cop out to me. I used to 
say to them, 'Don't send that shit 
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over here. All you're going to do is 
screw up our cases.' I don't paint 
myself as a hero. I didn't say, 
'Look, you guys better stop this.' I 
assumed all alumc that it way being 
okayed on a very high level. In any 
event. it really wiein't until the Las 
Vegas skimming investigation came 
up, and they were trying to impress 
the Attorney General with what a 
great job they were doing out there. 
and they gent a goddamn report 
over that you couldn't miss it. It 
was all over it. And then there was 
a big leak out there. and I swear 
to this day they sent the report 
over because they knew the casino 
owners had found the bug. Then 
the shit hit the fan and they uncov-
ered all the F.B.I. hugs out there. 

"This was after Jack Kennedy 
got shot, and Bobby Kennedy, al-
though he stayed on as Attorney 
General was sort of non rumpus 
mentis until he left the Depart-
ment. After he became a Senator, I 
got tipped off that Hoover was try-
ing to leak out the fact that Bobby 
authorized all the bugs. He sent 
Deke DeLnnch over to the Fernier/ 
Star—Hoover was close to the Step 
—to plant the story. but the editor 
insisted on attributing the story to 
some official in the Bureau, which 
DeLoach wouldn't buy, so they 
back-doored it. They gut Congress-
man Cross in Iowa to write a letter 
and that's how they got it out. 

"I went over to the Senate to see 
Bobby when I got the tip, and I 
was trying to tell him—first of all. 
I thought he knew—'Let's handle 
this the best way we can. We'll take 
the position that it was sort of done 
in the nature of a security opera-
tion. we didn't use the evidence,' 
and all those things. And he said. 
'Look'—and unless he was the 
greatest actor in history, he really 
got very upset. I liked Bobby Ken-
nedy, but we weren't that close. 
What the hell, he fired me once. 
And he said. 'You knew about it? 
You knew and you didn't tell me?' 
And I leveled. I said. 'Bobby. I 
thought you knew. I thought Hoo-
ver had your John Henry on every 
one of these things.' And he said. 
'No.' I came away convinced. and 
I'm convinced to this day, that he 
didn't know, Now other people don't 
agree with me, but I had this meet-
ing and he convinced me. I Was even 
saying, 'Look, Bobby, even if you 
didn't know, I think it would be 
better if you said you did know.' 
I'd rather go down in history as a 
guy who might have moved around 
a little bit than as an idiet. I didn't 
say that to him, of course. And he 
said, 'How can I? I didn't know.' 

Now, when the thing blew, Hoover 
did everything he could to try to 
prove that Bobby did know. Christ, 
he came up with a memorandum 
that was written about twenty 
years ago—general authority. And 
then he got some affidavits from 
some agents about la meeting in 
Chicago and a meet* in New York 
where Hoover :mei they played 
these tapes for Bob y. I was at the 
Chicago meeting. and I don't want 
to knock the agents; who submitted 
the affidavit.% but it 'just didn't hap-
pen that way. We were having an 
Organized Crime meeting, and 
right in the middle of it Courtney 
Evans, who by then was the F.B.I. 
liaison to the A.G.. brings in a re-
corder, puts it on a desk, and plays 
a tape. It was a tape of some Chi-
cago hood complaining bitterly to a 
crooked police captain that since 
Kennedy had become Attorney Gen-
eral, they couldn't fix cops any. 
more. It was a lot of play-up, ob-
viously trying to impress the At-
torney General. My immediate re-
action was these guys have flipped 
their lids. This is unbelievable that 
they would play one of these damn 
illegal tapes for the Attorney Ger,- 
end." 

What did Kennedy say? 
Hundley: "He never said a 

word." 
He couldn't hare been that noire? 
Hundley: "Think about it. If you 

didn't know, it could have been a 
local tape, it could have been a guy 
who had a thing wired on him. It 
could be anything." 

Why do you think the relotion-
ship between Hoorer and Bub Kra-
'icily deteriorated to the point it 
did? ft is my understanding that 
Kennedy consulted McClellan and 
Hoover before he accepted the At-
torney Generalship, and they both 
advised him to take it. 

Hundley: "My guess is that Hoo-
ver liked Bobby at first. After all, 
Bobby worked on all this Commu-
nist stuff with McCarthy. I mean he 
had certain things going for him 
that Hoover would have liked. Hoo-
ver probably figured, well, he's a 
gong ha kid and his old man's an 
old buddy of mine and his brother's 
President--I can handle him. And I 
think it was more out of deference 
to Bobby's feelings about organized 
crime that Hoover started expand-
ing his bugging program." 

There are stories about Kennedy 
putting in a direct line to Hoover's 
office, and about his fining neer 
there in his shirt sieeres and sitting 
on his desk. Ogre lie sopmmedly 
caught the Director taking a nap. 
Hare you heard these stories? 

Hundley: "Oh. sure. There was 
always a direct line but Bobby was 
the only one that ever used it. I was 
in Bobby's office once when he sum-
moned Hoover. I couldn't get over 
it. I was working on the Goldfine 
case which involved a lot of politi-
cians and this was one of those 
cases where the Director was drag-
ging his feet. I was telling Bobby 
about it and Bobby said something 
like, 'I mentioned that to the Di-
rector, or I mentioned that to Ed-
gar, yesterday, and he has some 
explanation.' And then Bobby said. 
'Do you want me to get him over 
here so you can hear his explana-
tion?' That was too much, so I said. 
'Yes.' So he hit a goddamn buzzer 
and within sixty seconds. the old 
man came in with a red face. and 
he and Bobby jawed at each other 
for about ten minutes. And Hoover 
kept looking at me. And he went 
out, and it was amazing. I'll tell you 
one thing, he didn't give an inch." 

He had a timid explanation then? 
Hundley: "I didn't think it Was 

worth a shit, but I can't remember 
what it was. And Bobby pushed him 
a little but he didn't back off. I be-
came very fond of Bobby. but Bob-
by never moved Hoover that much. 
and one thing you got to say about 
Hoover. he was tough. And he 
didn't back down. He always stood 
his ground. I am convinced that the 
thing that finally destroyed their 
relationship was that Bobby men-
tioned to too many people who com-
plained to him about Hoover that, 
'Look, just wait,' and we all gut the 
message that they were going to re-
tire him after Jack got reelected 
and Hoover hit seventy. And it got 
back to him. 

"The fact is that with all the bat-
tling on organized crime that went 
on when Kennedy came in, Hoover 
didn't drag his feet half as much in 
this area as he did in other things. 
for example, civil rights, which gets 
you into that whole big flap with 
Martin Luther King." 

obert E. Wick, who once 
headed the Bureau's 

	

-...-- 	*Crime Records Division. 
succeeding Lou Nichols 

	

'.. 	and Deke DeLoach in 
rl A. 	that position, told me 
that the F.B.I. had "no such thing 
as a public-relations section or any-
thing of that nature." As assistant 
director of the Crime Records Divi-
sion, it was Wick's "responsibility 
to maintain the various F.B.I. pub-
lications and to answer questions 
from the press so that the informa-
tion that the public has a right to 
know was given out to the public, 
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Rule Four: Avoid the press like the 
plague. Know full well that if you 
talk to one reporter, you'll have all 
reporters breathing down your neck. 

at 

-  

and we held no secrets back. I fol 
luwed the policy of Nichols and De-
Loach, of absolute forthrightness 
with the press. Mr. Hoover insisted 
on that and that's what we did. I'd 
tell Mr. Hoover the full facts and 
then we'd decide what we could say 
and what we couldn't say, what 
could be printed or broadcast anti 
what couldn't be. My policy was 
we're all going to the same place, 
so give the man the full benefit of 
the doubt." 

Wes Hoover an etfertrre speaker? 
Wick: "Oh, yes, indeed. indeed. 

This is why I—many times I'd 
have newsmen say to me. 'I want an 
interview with Mr. Hoover.' Well. 
I'd try to get it and yet I realized 
this was sort of walking on eggs 
here because once you open the 
floodgates and let one news-media 
man have an interview with Mr. 
Hoover, then the other men can say, 
'Well, look. I've gut as much right 
as Joe over here acs why can't I 
come in?' It would create consid-
erable problems. Yet somebody 
would come out with a MA111'00116 
article about Mr. Hoover that ab-
solutely was not true, irrespective 
of what it was. and that would 
cause me to seethe quite a bit. We 
had to try to counter these things 
some way and I think the best way 
to counter it was with the truth. 
always. Well, the best way to get 
the truth is to let the malt himself 
talk to the man. Then that brings 
the problem again, you see? Yinu 
let one man in. you should let others 
in. Mr. Hoover could express him-
self very well." 

Bat he never held press confer. 
races? 

Wick: "He did one time against 
our best judgment. I remember the 
time he let all those women come 
In—it was November 18. 1964. 
against my judgment. against De-
Loach's, but he said no, he was go-
ing to see all those women. It just 
so happened that they weren't the 
big top reporters but he saw them 
and they asked him all sorts of 
questions. And from that meeting 
came the comment that Mr. Hoover 
made that Martin Luther King was 
'the most notorious Liar in the coun-
try.' And that was reported, and of 
course Mr. Hoover had reference to 
the fact that Martin Luther King 
had charged in a speech that all 
KILL agents down South were 
Southerners and biased and so on, 
and this is just not the fact." 

Since his 4,1M II) ent r ft )2t .470111y 
after the annomire 	t that King 
hod won the Nobel Peace Prize. 
don't your think the 	eras UN' 
fortunate? 

Wick: "Well, we—indeed it was 
—Mr. Hoover should not have acid 
that. It was ill-advised." 

Do you think that his age had 
something to do with it? 

Wick: "Well, it could have. Let's 
see. he was seventy at that time. I 
think it may have—once he said it. 
he had to stick by it. and he dill." 

MY impression of Hanger is that 
of a man who says precisely what 
he wants to say ripen he wants to 
soy it. 

Wick: "That's right. In that par-
ticular instance. I was there. I re-
member, sitting here and he was 
sitting there, and the girls, about 
fourteen of them. sitting around. 
and he MIS talking about Martin 
Luther King, and he said, 'And an-
other thing, he's the most notorious 
liar in the country.' Then he talked 
about various other things, pecu-
liarities he had. the way King was 
attacking the Bureau, and finally 
one girl said, 'May we quote you?' 
and he said, 'Yes, go ahead.' and 
Deke said, 'Well, Mr. Hoover, you 
just said so-and-so,' and he said. 
'That's all right. You can use that 
as a quote.' " 

Didn't he also crease KiRll of be-
ing a degenerate? 

Wick: "Well, I don't think he 
publicly said that. I don't believe 
he did. I think he was probably 
quoted as saying that because that 
was some of the conversation with-
in that same conference. In fact, 
he said a great number of other  

things in that conference that he 
asked them not to quote—sort of 
off the record." 

If was reported that when Hoo-
ver and King met in the Director's 
office some tiro weeks later. Hoover 
ro roord him With tall. record-
logs of his seamal activities, and 
sagyested that Ire tone down his 
rri+ivison of the F.B.I. 

Wick: "Deke DeLoach and I took 
Mr. Martin Luther King and two, 
three of his associates into Mr. 
Hoover's office, and that's the 
time—" 

Did you stay fa? 
Wick: "I think Deke stayed in 

and I stayed out with one of the 
other aides with him. And we had 
many TV cameras and SC/ on there. 
Although the agreement inside was 
to the effect that, well, Mr. Hooter 
told him, 'You can say anything you 
want to. it's tip to you, but I don't 
want a press conference.' Well. Mr. 
King, of course. walked right nut 
and took a piece of paper colt of his 
pocket and announced that th was 
what they had discussed. It had 
been prepared ahead of time." 

Did Hunter ronfrout King with 
tape recordings of his sexual ar-
tirities? 

Wick: "That's not the fact." 
mould appreciate hearing your 

rersion. 
Wick: "I don't know. i wasn't 

there at the time. 	I don't know 
what they discussed." 

Ar•e you aware of a story by 
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Richard Harwood in The Washing-
ton Post to the effect that certain 
newsmen were offered transcripts 
of these tape recordings? 

Wick: "I don't know. They may 
have been. Dick Harwood. by the 
way, is a very honorable man and a 
good reporter, a topnotcher." 

 
The editor of The Washington Post. 
Ben Bradlee, told me that he re-
fused to see the tape transcripts be-
cause he thought they were "of-
fensive." 

I wonder who would hare a copy? 
Bradlee: "They showed them to 

plenty of people. They showed them 
to Gene Patterson when he was 
editor of The Atlanta Constitution. 
But I'm sure that they were not 
printable. I mean, I have the sub-
stance of them, they had to do with 
his sexual exploits and they were-
DeLoach told me about them and—" 

How would he go about telling 
you that? 

Bradlee: "Well, by—hell, he 
brought it up. He said, 'We have.' 
or, 'There are,' I don't know. But he 
described the tapes, and the one 
that I particularly remember was 
King watching the televised funeral 
of Kennedy in some hotel room. I 
don't remember which, and he made 
some reference to the sexual habits 
of the President and Mrs. Ken-
nedy." 

stud Del:ouch would be peddling 
this? 

Bradlee: "Peddling smeddling. 
They were trying to discredit 
King." 

I asked Jack Anderson if he 
thought that Hoover had tried to 
intimidate King with the tape re-
cord ings. 

Anderson: "He did have tape re-
cordings on King but I would think 
that if King called Hoover's bluff. 
how could he put it out? I know 
Hoover operated in far more subtle 
ways, but he certainly was capable 
of blackmail—in fact, he did it all 
the time, but it was implied black-
mail. He would let Senators know 
that he had picked up some infor-
mation on them and he'd give it to 
them as an act of great charity, 
thereby doing them a favor but at 
the same time letting them know 
that he had the information." 

But how would you know that's 
true? 

Anderson: "People tell me things. 
They know I'm not going to use 
names. Yes. I've had people tell me 
that this has happened to them. and 
I have the impression that it's fre-
quent. When I was friendly with 
Hoover, I personally was able to get 
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files, any files I requested. I got in-
volved in a libel suit once when 
Hoover was courting me—and when 
you get in a libel suit, you fight 
with everything you've got—and I 
just called and said. 'Do you have 
a file on this guy ?' They brought out 
the file, laid it out, and I went 
through the whole thing. It was ex-
tremely helpful, I might add." 

Did the F.B.I. ever offer you any 
of the evidence on King? 

Anderson: "It was never offered 
to me but I did get it from unau-
thorized sources. I published one 
quote from an F.B.I. document that 
had been sent over to the White 
House about an incident with a 
woman. I interviewed the woman in 
the case before I published it." 

Edgar Hoover hated The 
1, 	 an Washington Post, and yet in j_ 
! 1970 he gave it one of its 
, major exclusive stories. The 
V reporter involved, Ken W. 

Clawson, who covered the 
Department of Justice for The Post, 
later became Communications Di-
rector in the Nixon Administration. 
During an interview in June, 1972, 
Clawson described how he got his 
exclusive story. 

Clawson: "On Monday morning 
rNovember 16, 19701. 1 had just 
left my home for The Washington 
Post when my wife received a tele-
phone call from the F.B.I. I still 
don't know who called but the guy 
said to my wife, 'We'll send a car 
out to get Mr. Clawson immediate-
ly,' and my wife said, 'You can't 
because he's already left for the 
office.' I got into The Post about ten 
that morning and there were about 
eight messages to call the F.B.I. 
immediately. I called and Harold 
Leinbaugh of the F.B.I. said, 'The 
oid man will see you if you can get 
here in ten minutes, and if you 
want, we'll send a car after you.' I 
refused the car and I got over there 
in ten minutes, by God, and I 
walked onto the fifth floor and Lein-
baugh grabbed me by the arm and 
hustled me into Hoover's office, and 
on the way he said to me. 'You'll 
have about twenty-five minutes with 
the Director.' I said, 'Fine.'" 

Did you hare any particular sub-
ject you wanted to discuss? 

Clawson: "Well, no, except that 
Sunday, the day before, Ramsey 
Clark's book [Crime in America] 
had come out, and I had read the 
news stories and the reviews on it, 
and so I was familiar with it. I 
said. 'The reviews of the Ramsey 
Clark book came out yesterday and 
they were very detrimental to you.' 
and 1 asked if there was anything 

he wanted to tell me about it." 
Had Hoover read any of the re-

riot's? 
Clawson: "Heil, yes, he saw ev-

erything within a matter of min-
utes. He knew exactly what I was 
talking about. I had the lead of the 
story in the first ten minutes: 'J. 
Edgar Hoover yesterday called for-
mer Attorney General Ramsey 
Clark a "jellyfish" and the worst 
Attorney General he has encoun-
tered.in forty-five years as Director 
of the Federal Bureau of Investi-
gation.' The story also revealed for 
the first time the reason Hoover 
wouldn't talk to Bobby Kennedy the 
last six months he was in office. He 
said Kennedy was exerting great 
pressure un him to hire Negro 
agents and he just wasn't about to 
lower the standards of the F.B.I. 
for any ethnic group." 

In the story, Clawson quotes 
Hoover as saying. "If ever there 
was a worse Attorney General 
(than Kennedy] it was Ramsey 
Clark. You never knew which way 
he was going to flop on an issue." 
Until "Bobby Kennedy came along." 
he had never had any trouble with 
Attorneys General. In comparison. 
Attorney General John N. Mitchell 
was an "honest, sincere and very 
human man." Hoover added, "There 
has never been an Attorney General 
for whom I've had higher regard." 

Clawson: "It's a long goddamn 
story, close to seventy column inch-
es of type. I had asked him ques-
tions specifically on Clark and then 
on his own volition he spun out the 
Kennedy business right on the heels 
of the Clark business. And with 
that I knew that we were solid. 
Anything else from that point 
would be downhill. But here's the 
interesting thing about it—when 
you've interviewed a lot of people. 
you know within the first five min-
utes whether you're on the same 
wavelength, whether you're going 
to do business with that guy, and 
we did. It was apparent to both of 
us, I think, that we could talk with 
one another. The interview took 
off . 	and it lasted and lasted and 
lasted, and I think I got out of 
there about one o'clock in the after-
noon. 

"By the way, after this interview 
appeared, all those seventy publica-
tions that were waiting in line for 
years to interview him just de-
scended on the F.B.I. with the 
worst language you've ever heard 
in your life, and especially those 
conservative publications that had 
always supported him. And we were 
overjoyed at having this exclusive 
story." (Continued on page 204) 
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HOOVER'S OFFICE POLITICS  

(COrlEiteued jrvnr page )50) 
In an interview with Ramsey Clark, I 
asked him about the relationship be-
tween Hoover and Kennedy. 

Ramsey Clark: "It's essentially an 
interpretation of the men—and of the 
men's personalities and their motives. 
A clear factor must be Bob's amercing 
prominence as a crime fighter. The 
point of one of Mr. Hoover's shortcom-
ings, I believe, was his jealousy of 
anyone who emerged with any degree 
of prominence in the field of law en-
forcement except himself, and I think 
his almost consistent history is one of 
keeping everybody else down. It's real-
ly a fatal weakness in leadership be-
cause you need to do just the opposite, 
you need to bring them up. But Mr. 
Hoover's record, take with the chiefs of 
police, going back for many years, was 
to begin an attack of sorts on any-
one who began to achieve national 
prominence. Well, Bob was coming on 
as a big crime fighter. People were talk-
ing about the Organized Crime Sec-
tion and he was going around the 
country making speeches and holding 
meetings and energizing other investi-
gative agencies, and they were begin-
ning to get some glory. This was a 
holy mission of sorts with him. He was 
just deadly serious about it and deadly 
effective. The Organized Crime Section 
was going night and day. Subconscious-
ly, or however, Mr. Huover watched all 
that and it was getting into his baili-
wick a little bit and he didn't like it. 
It stirred some jealousy. 

"A major source of Mr. Hoover's 
power was knowledge, and, I think, in 
the early Sixties he knew very little 
about organized crime, and his agents 
could tell him very little, and that's 
when they started putting in all these 
bugs. Soon Mr. Hoover was beginning 
to tell Bob Kennedy things he didn't 
know. You can build a reputation by 
just knowing a lot, particularly if 
you're in investigative activity. That's 
why when I culled the Russian Em-
bassy fur this group of church people 
to see if I could get them to go over 
to Leningrad and monitor the Soviet 
trials of the Jewish people there, I 
knew that would go straight to the 
President because I knew Hoover rel-
ished little things like that. To a busy 
guy at the White House, that seems 
like, 'Gee, those guys know everything. 
don't they? The F.B.I. is really on top 
of things.' It's as simple as this, they 
got a wiretap on the residency and a 
grown noun is sitting there listening so 
that when a call comes in he knows 
that's something Mr. Hoover would be 
interested in because everybody's 
learned of his idiosyncrasies in that 
Bureau and it gets up there. And sure 
enough, the White House was leaking 
like a sieve and so Jack Anderson 
had it in less than two months, but he 
misinterpreted it at first; he thought 
it was a tap on me, but of course it 
was a tap on the Russian Embassy.. 
The point is that they deal in informa-
tion. 

"In early 1964, or late 1963, Mr. 
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Hoover started going to a considerable 
degree directly to the White House, 
bypassing Bob. I think that's a lawless 
thing, terribly dangerous and cannot 
provide equal justice or evenhanded 
law enforcement. The President is 
simply much too busy to get into those 
things, and the risks for political mo-
tivation or personality motivation arc 
just enormous and terribly dangerous. 
The major conflict that seas supposed 
to have arisen had to do with minority 
hiring. Bob wanted to get some black 
agents in there and Mr. Hoover took 
just a straight stand that he wouldn't 
compromise on personal standards. 

"As far as the hugging controversy 
is concerned. I think the central truth 
is that if Bob had really known about 
it, Mr. Hoover wouldn't have been so 
secretive toward him and toward the 
Department of Justice. What you real-
ly find is a structuring of the thing in 
a way that protects the Bureau because 
that was the one thing he would always 
do was protect the Bureau first, and 
second, try to accumulate enough au-
thority to go ahead and do what he 
wanted to do." 

Does it seem reasonable fu you that 
Boh Kennedy was not aware at the 

buggiPlO and wiretapping of 
organized crlmel What about the meet-
lugs in Chicago and New York tehere 
the F.B.I. actually played tapes for 
him. Wouldn't pipit hare said, "Where 
the hell did you get that?" 

Ramsey Clark: "Well, there's sev-
eral things going. First. we've known 
and assumed that many police depart-
ments are wiretapping extensively. 
Second. we know that the F.B.I. has 
close needs, close relationships with 
them. You couldn't tell if it was con-
sentual, where you had a guy wired 
and that wouldn't have required At-
torney General approval at that time. 
Bob wasn't really keenly aware of civil 
liberties. He was keenly aware of or-
ganized crime and therefore he per-
haps wasn't as sensitive as he should 
have been. But one thing you just don't 
do in the jungle of law enforcement, 
particularly when you're in a staff 
meeting and here are twenty-five guys. 
is say, 'Well, who was your Informer?' 
or, 'Where did you get that informa-
tion?' I don't know what the context 
of the tape was but I think you can be 
sure just frum the nature of things 
that the Bureau wouldn't have said, 
'A tap or a bug that we installed.' " 

Did Hoover PVCr tail to carry not eat 

order? 
Ramsey Clark: "Nut as far as I 

know, and some were quite unpleasant 
to him. Like any other institution, if . 
they didn't really believe in or em- • 
pathize with an order, why the ex-
ecution might be very poor, as in 
the Orangeburg-massacre investigation. 
They might be very reluctant to do it. 
You would order them to du it and 
they would do it. That is. I would say 
that this looked like an important vio-
lation of Federal law. I did those 
things, with rare exceptions. in a per-
sonal commussication rather than any 
formal thing. The formal ones-1 sup-
pose I turned down, I don't know how -I  

many, maybe forty, fifty wiretap re-
quests. I would do those in writing be-
cause they were submitted in writing." 

11'be was your F.B.I. liaixroil? 
Ramsey Clark: "It was Deke De-

Loach, but after Bob Kennedy's death 
I cut that off. I couldn't bear to do 
that anymore. We had a little episode 
there that I didn't like and l just last 
confidence in DeLoach. We'd been 
searching for James Earl Ray, the as-
sassin of Dr. King, and I had been in 
daily contact with them about it. I'd 
go over and see the evidence and hear 
what they had and they'd send me 
reports. This is unusual because as a 
rule the Attorney General doesn't know 
what's going on in an investigation. 
They were showing me everything. In 
fact, if anything, they would show me 
too much because they would be going 
down some blind roads and I'd worry 
for two days about whether a body 
they'd dug ip on the beach in Puerto 
Vallama was James Earl Ray or not. 
The fingers would be dehydrated and 
you couldn't get prints, so I'd he wait-
ing around to hear about that sort of 
thing. 

"The day of Bob Kennedy's funeral, 
I went up to St. Patrick's, and I had 
to get back down here early because 
we were having a ceremony in the 
courtyard of the Department of Jus-
tice that seine afternoon for Bob. So 
I couldn't come down on that train. 
When I came out of the church, an 
agent said, 'Mr. Attorney General, Mr. 
DeLoach says that it's urgent that you 
call him immediately.' When I called 
him, he said that they had captured 
James Earl Ray in London and that he 
had tried to hold it up until after the 
funeral but he couldn't hold it up be-
cause Scotland Yard or somebody was 
saying, 'We can't do that,' and so they 
released the story apparently during 
the church service. I was a little puz-
zled by that. I had been told a day 4...r 
two before that samething might break 
and we'd heard about him trying to go 
to Rhodesia and we'd picked up some-
thing in Lisbon on him, and I was real-
ly concerned that he was going to get 
down to Rhodesia or someplace that we 
couldn't extradite hint and there we'd 
be. But I got back to Washington and 
sonic of my people were really upset 
because they said there had been this 
lung typed announcement of the arrest, 
that it had been laid on their desks ei-
ther the night before or that morn-
ing—" 
It sounds like they 'wanted to release 

it at that precise time. 
Ramsey Clark: "I never have un-

derstood why. I mean, it's too bizarre 
for me to understand, but for sonic 
reason they decided they'd remind ev-
erybody the F.B.I. was still on the job 
about that time of day and they (lid. 
I think I could have taken that. 
mean, it's an idiosyncrasy and kind of a 
Petty one, but the thing I couldn't take 
was that I believed that I'd been lied 
to, and you can't function that way. 
I'd been told with some elaboration that 
they'd tried to hold up and couldn't do 
it when in fact it had been just the op-
posite, that they had held up just to  

release it at that time. I called DeLoach 
in that afternoon and did what I don't 
do very often, that is, got upset, and 
cold him I didn't want to use him as a 
liaison with the Bureau because 1 
didn't have confidence in him anymore, 
and that was the end of that. 

"Actually, I hadn't been using him 
very extensively anyway. Even men 
like DeLoach were very careful about 
their outside relationships with the Di-
rector. The night Dr. Kim: was as-
sassinated. I decided to tic down there. 
I don't think I decided until after mid-
night, and I decided I wanted DeLoach 
with me so that I would have the very 
latest information available when I got 
there because I knew the press and 
others would be all over me. Besides. by 
that time it was clear that there was a 
high potential for turbulence and riot-
ing all over the country. So I told De-
Leach that I wanted hint to go with 
me and he said lie couldn't unless the 
Director said it was all right. I said. 
'1 want you to go. You just tell the 
Director and you can get that straight-
ened out.' In a little while he called 
back and said, 'Would you mind calling 
hint?' So I called the Director about 
two o'clock in the morning, woke him 
up, and said I was going to fly down 
and I wanted to take DeLoach with me, 
and, of course, he said, 'Why, sure, go 
ahead.' " 

Do you think Hoover confronted King 
with evidence of the tape recordings. or 
do you think he was too smart to place 
himself in that position? 

Ramsey Clark: "Well. I think not 
only too smart, I just don't think he 
would do it." 

Except that he hated King to on  ir- 
rn 	degree. 

Ramsey Clark: "He had sonic aber-
rations about people and things. He 
was very motional about communism 
and sex and King and he could have 
gotten carried away. But it obviously 
wasn't anything that was very specific 
ur detailed so it couldn't have been 
very much. Mr. Hoover was a religious 
man in his way and he equated com-
munism with sin. He just thought com-
munism was very evil." 

Do yon think there was a conscious 
effort to play up hie role against all 
radicals? For example, his comment 
about the Black Panthers? 

Ramsey Clark: "I think he had to 
have bad guys and he specialized not in 
creating them but in illuminating them, 
and the Panthers lent themselves to it. 
I think it was sin absurd and outra-
geous exaggeration. There's nothing to 
support it, numberwise or conduawise. 
or any other ways. But Mr. Hoover was 
old-fashioned on race. There's just no 
use trying to ignore it; it's all through 
his character. I don't think he ever 
thought of himself as racist but there 
were heavy strains of racism in his 
character. When you take his age and 
having been raised in a southern city. 
the District of Columbia. he just 
thought their place and role was differ-
ent. Finally, after he came through all 
the metamorphosis of the HMO's, he 
was able to see revolutiunary evil 
among them. Here's an illustration of 
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the 'You'll be interested to know' type 
of memos I would got from Mr. lino-
ver: 'Communists are joining forces at 
every turn in treasonous coalition op-
posing our efforts in Vietnam, working 
with black-power advocates to lay 
foundations for outright guerrilla war-
fare in the streets of our cities.' Well, 
that's designed to scare you, I guess. I 
turned it down. They had just all kinds 
of people they wanted to tap or bug 
and I turned them down consistently, 
and I haven't the slightest duubt—oh, 
1 shouldn't say the slightest doubt, but 
I have no real doubt that he obeyed all 
those orders with absolute fidelity. I 
don't think he put any of those taps 
on." 

It has been reported that when Pres-
ident Johnson was asked why he kept 
Hoover on, his response was that "I'd 
rather have him inside the tent ;netting  
out than outride pissing  in." Do you 
know -whether Johnson made that com-
ment? 

Ramsey Clark: "If he said that, he 
didn't really mean it. I think it's the 
kind of colorful thing he might say, 
but I think he kind of enjoyed having 
him around. He was always extremely 
cordial to Mr. Hoover, always anxious 
to have him involved. I wanted to kind 
of create a position upstairs for Mr. 
Hoover. I thought some kind of  om- 
hudsnlan role for a senior gue, some 
oversight of the C.I.A. and F.B.I.. but 
the purpose was to see if we couldn't 
move him out of the F.B.I. before it 
got hurt too bad because I thought 
there was pretty significant erosion of 
the quality of its performance and its 
personnel going on. But to a fellow like 
Lyndon Johnson, they were so close per-
sonally. They had lived across the 
street for twenty-odd years and the 
beagle was named J. Edgar, and the 
Johnson daughters felt he was a rich 
uncle or something. Not that they'd see 
him that much, but in the old days he'd 
occasionally come over for breakfast on 
Sunday. And then Mr. Johnson was 
young enough to have grown up in the 
Dillinger days, and he liked that sort of 
thing. 

"Yet I think President Johnson 
showed that he could do more with Mr. 
Hoover than anybody who'd ever tried. 
Getting Mr. Hoover to eo down to Jack-
son. Mississippi, to open that F.B.I. 
office was quite a feat. I wouldn't have 
bet much on being able to talk him into 
doing it, but he did." 

This brings up a real problem. Peo-
ple say, ",Never again another J. Edgar 
Hunters." bet what's the alternative? 

Ramsey Clark: "First, he's un acci-
dent of history to a very considerable 
extent. The probability of there being 
another J. Edgar Hoover is just very 
remote. The alternative, however, is to 
have public accountability. The F.B.I. 
has not been publicly accountable and 
I think it needs an influx of manpower 
that will give it a much broader na-
tional experience. more different races 
and religions and viewpoints, an open 
performance. We've got to have a new 
sense of priorities there. Nobody, the 
public or the Attorney General, really 
has any sense of what the F.B.I.'s pri- 

oritiee are, primarily because the F.B.I. 
doesn't really have priorities, and that's 
tragic. They need to begin a system of 
evaluation that would give them clearly 
focused priorities, and they need to 
focus and restrict theirjurisdiction. 
Mr. Hoover was pretty gooa at that. If 
he'd been an empire builder. he could 
have built an empire. But he didn't 
really, not in comparison to what he 
could have." 

What was it like dealing  with him on 
a ftribt-tit-duo 

Ramsey Clark: "It was difficult, 
frankly, in the last years. It was diffi-
cult to keep him on an issue and keep 
a focus on it until some agreement or 
decision could be made. He would tend 
to change the subject, to talk about 
other things, or to just kind of preempt 
the conversation. Usually I'd have three 
or four things I wanted to discuss with 
him and they would be tentative or pre-
liminary to get his views and he would 
tend to talk about other things and fre-
quently they'd be repetitious." 

Wes he being  evasive? 
Ramsey Clark: "No. I don't think so. 

It reminded me of some older relatives 
that I've had. As you get on in years, 
and particularly if you've had a rich 
experience, you tend to want to talk 
about things or relive things, and he 
would tell the same thing a number of 
times. In fact, it was hard for me to 
talk with him for thirty minutes with-
out hint bringing up Dr. King." 

He hod a thing  about him, didn't he? 
Ramsey Clark: "Yes, he did, It may 

have been this didn't happen with many 
people, but when he saw me, he would 
think of Dr. King. I don't think there 
were many uccasione when he didn't 
start telling me something about him, 
and it would tend to be derogatory." 

Was thief before or after King's 
deal li? 

Ramsey Clark: "Before and after. 
Mr. Hoover was a very direct man; at 
least, I always found him to be. lie 
was quite candid in expressing his 
opinions if he expressed them at ail." 

Still you don't think he was being  
evasive when he changed the subject? 

Ramsey Clark: "It may be that he 
did it in a way that escaped my detec-
tion, but to me it really seemed to be 
more a person who was more used to 
talking than listening, and more used 
to framing the subject than having 
someone else do it. I developed a prac-
tice of having him over to lunch every 
two or three weeks, just the two of us 
in my office. It would usually last an 
'hour and a half, and I would find it 
would be right toward the end and I 
still hadn't gotten to the things I had 
wanted to discuss. So I'd have to just 
push it, say, 'Well, there are a few 
things I wanted to discuss with you.' 
Part of it too, I thought, was loneli-
ness, really. I think he was a very lone-
ly man and when he found someone to 
listen. he would just talk. 

"He had some unusual ideas. He 
wouldn't have staff meetings in the 
F.B.I. He wouldn't have all his assist-
ant directors meet and discuss things. 
It was run in what I would call an au-
thoritarian manner. Now, we were hay- 
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the Jews" at Chautauqua in the sum-
ntertane, where there is also a work-
shop on tallith making. 

How meleneholy-sweet: the dear dead 
slain heroic Jews of long ago, that lost 
humanitarian people whose liberator 
Muses made it obligatory to free slaves, 
defend the widow and the orphan, carry 
on ordinary affairs in decency and 
equity, hate Idolatry of stone or spirit; 
and who put all that down into a trea-
sured Law in order to insure a life of 
Commandment and Deed. 

Oh, the genius that was Israel! 
Sometimes we try with all our might 

to imagine for ourselves what the world 
would he like if there were still a living 
Jewish people. 

In New York, on Yom Kippur, I knew 
well enough they meant me—not 

only the citizens of Jerusalem and Tel 
Aviv. The Nazis too had rejoiced in 
Yam Kippur as a "special" day for 
"special" treatment. The massacre at 
Babi Yar—the shooting of thousands 
of Jews on the lip of a ravine outside 
Kiev in the Ukraine, with the zealous 
complicity of the Ukrainians—Babi Yar 
had begun on the eve of Yom Kippur 
and continued all through the next day. 
The inner nature of the Yom Kippur 
War was immediately recognizable. 

The word for it is pogrom. 
But they would take from Jews even 

the death of Jews. In the Soviet Union. 
Debi Yar is not permitted acknowledg-
ment as a Jewish martyrdom: the of-
ficial view is that "Soviet citizens" per-
ished there, justifying the prohibition 
against Jewish memoeial ceremonies on 
that spot. In the Soviet Union. Jews 
are singled out in all the usual unpleas-
ant ways, and become ordinary citizens 
only when they fall into mass gravel. 

The same with the holocaust. The 
Final Solution, some insist, was "a 
crime against all mankind," not "just" 
against Jews: as if to say that if this 
were declared a crime only against 
Jews, then it could not be considered a 
crime against mankind. 

When the world wants Jews to start 
dying again, it begins to speak of 
"mankind." 

But the Yom Kippur War was an 
exception. No one could say that Syria 
and Egypt did Hot mean Jews. 

On Yam Kippur I was in the syna-
gogue. 

A word about "universalists." His-
tory yields categories, which some per-
sons resist, insisting on their common-
ality with all flesh, as if flesh were the 
only human mark. Jews who refuse to 
be categorized form a very large cate-
gory. From Leipzig, from Danzig. from 
Frankfurt, from Berlin and from Vien-
na, the charred bones of the uncate-
gorized cried out from the gut of the 
ovens. "You cannot do this to nue! I alit 
a member all bamanitiil" 

Only Jews carry on this way. Uni-
versalism is the ultimate Jewish paro-
chialism. 

Universalism puts one in confederacy 
with those who will not admit that it  

was Jews sena were murdered at Babi 
Yar. 

abstractions cannot be murdered. If 
only it were possible to elude every vio-
lation, past, present, and future, by be-
coming a universalist abetraction! 

Salzhenitsyn, by contrast. abhors the 
Soviet system not because he is a "hit-
manibeing" but precisely because he is 
a Rssian. 

In. the synagogue on YomKippur. I 
 Was pierced by the memory of a sto-

ry. It was in my father's childhood, in a 
Russian townlet. There were two 
priests of that place, the "good" galach 
and the "bad" galach. It was, of course, 
Easter time, when these things often 
used to happen. The bad priest orga-
nized a mob with truncheons. The Jews 
ran to the synagogue and locked them-
selves in. The truncheons were turned 
into torches, and the mob marched 
around and around outside, about to set 
fire to the synagogue. My father, then 
u boy of four or five, always remem-
bered the panic inside. families pressed 
together. But then the good priest came 
along and persuaded the murderers to 
go home. 

My father lived, and herr ant I, free 
and safe in an American synagogue on 
October 6, 1973. Then why do I feel as 
if I am my father, about to be cut down 
by the mob outside? 

There is no mob outside, Cairo and 
Damascus, which hold the torches, are 
on the far end of the globe. Yet they 
mean ins. I know they mean me. Hav-
ing chosen Toni Kippur, they mean me 
to knew they mean me. 

In the synagogue, amid those medi-
tations of self-criticism and redediea-
than that constitute the Yom Kippur 
worship, it seemed it was the end of 
Zionism, history thumbing its nose, the 
ideal of a Jewish homeland a mockery. 
Here were Jews, all crushed together in 
one little place, the mob beating the 
walls that held them. Was this what 
was meant by a sovereign state? A 
homeland! A refuge, a restoration, a 
return from exile? A nation like other 
nations? Or was it only another of 
those townlets, another trap in another 
place? 

In the days that followed, a friend 
telephoned long-distance from Mary-
land; a poet. lie wanted to read his new 
poem. The call came just before the 
ten o'clock news. It was the third or 
fourth day of the war; news in those 
hours was a feverishly awaited crust, 
an urgency, something to be downed. 
Nevertheless. I shut off the set and 
listened to the poem. It was lyrical; in-
fused, as we say, with sensibility. Then 
and there I vomited up literature; 1 
was turned against every posture 
grounded in aesthetics. Art is indiffer-
ent to slaughter. 

On the fitth day of the war a mag-
azine editor telephoned; business as 
usual. A good man. sensitive to cer-. 
Win elemental aches, he had grown 
up a member of a small fundamental-
ist sect in a Mormon community, and 
as a child felt' dispossessed. "What 
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ing staff meetings regularly and hav-
ing everybndy in—Prisons, Inanigra 
tam, Legal Division, maybe a iiezen out-
fits--but he never participated in those. 
Ho came four or five times. but he'd 
talk about the things he wanted to talk 
about. It would tend not to he spon-
taneous and it wouldn't move. The 
meetings were quite unproductive. 
That's when I finally went to just the 
two of us. 

"You see, he had all those associates 
down at the F.B.I. and he really had a 
strong feeling that he 3houlrin't frater-
nize. One of the things I wanted to 
do—there were some things I wanted 
to do that I never did---was to have 
all the assistant directors to a lunch in 
my office. I did this at least once a 
week, selecting a different outfit each 
week, and I wanted to include the 
F.B.I. but it was obvious I wouldn't 
want to do it over his strenuous objec-
tions because you'd defeat the very 
purpose. I wanted to get to know them 
better and to open it up a little so I 
coned get to -hear what they were think-
ing, what they were saying and doing 
and give them some encouragement, 
but he just didn't think you should 
fraternize." 

SVould To'gun accootpunp hip( when 
he came to ywer office? 

Ramsey Clark: "Only in the begin-
ning. I always appreciated Clyde Tol-
son very much. But there were long 
periods there when Clyde couldn't 
come. I don't know the truth of the al-
legations and nobody would ever say. 
but Clyde had a stroke, II. think, and it 
was pretty severe. He had a stroke in 
the night, and Mr. Hoover and his 
chauffeur—Clyde apparently called 
him—had to get him over to the hospi-
tal, They didn't want anybody to know 
it. I would ask him, 'How is Clyde?' 
but people in the Bureau wouldn't oak. 
I think Clyde bad a series of strokes 
and I think lie couldn't talk for a while. 
He was sick for months and months, I'd 
say in both 1967 and 1968. and of 
course I don't know anything about his 
condition after that time. 

"I can remember the Director telling 
me at sonic length as if to justify—you 
see, he really needed Clyde because he 
didn't have any close relationship with 
anyone else—they were flying and the 
plane took a sudden drop and Mr. 
Hoover always wanted to think Clyde's 
condition had something to do with the 
change in pressure in the cabin. Mr, 
Hoover was a very lonely man. It was 
sail in a way. He had no close friends. 
His social contacts were just incred-
ibly limited." 

j
Edgar Hoover grew increasingly 

. cantankerous in his last years. The 
"jellyfish" story was only one in a 

long series of classic boners that were 
indiscriminately tossed to the media like 
raw meat to hungry wolves. Clyde Tol-
son, who always stayed a respectful 
half step behind the Boss in their fa-
mous walks together, survived him in 
death, but perhaps. if the truth were 
known, the Hese never survived that 
first stroke that disabled his lifelong 
alter ego. ift 

ALL THE WORLD WANTS THE JEWS DEAD 

•-•,..•••■••••.... ••••■••••■• •••••--.11.1••■•-••■•••••■••••••• •••-•-•. 

• .••••- 	• 



INVENTIONS 
IDEAS 

WANTED 
Manufacturers Need New Products. Your inven. 
[toe. new product a. idea developed for nun. 
roraisy sales by Prat-manna! l 'monism, ion. 

No Idea Is Too Small' 
Free Booklet, "Haw to Noleguard. Dewlap 

and Market Your Ideas to industry" 

LAWRENCE PESKA ASSOCIATES 
500 Fifth Ave., Dept. 504, N.Y., N.Y. 10036 

Phone (2121 3544696 
ace...an of Lootforsee Pales iloocio/..4, 

amMINimilmiemi.GmtmliGNImsmimMGA 

Ge MEN GMT 
ems 1 

Frankest and fullest details 
available anywhere on 
HAIR REPLACEMENT. 
From oldest remedies to 
latest medical transplants 
& sutures. Startling 
revelations never be- 
fore published about 
restoration gimmickry 
end the new 
REVOLUTION in 

MEN'S HAIRPIECES! 
Offend FREE from waders lint deot. Port for swift Asia 
vises moos Sty's. sect 6 recenory catalog ,schloint Write. 

.171101LE.74-11 UNIVERSAL. SE W. 39th Sc, NYC 10011 
1 i OA.— ISO* test tents. Pfir41 

1 Mali' 	  

1 

IWino 	  

I C,„ 	  

FLEXVEN - 
ALL-ACTION SPORT SHORTS 
Greatest new idea in freedom 
for men in action - tennis. 	• - 
swimming, cycling, running. 
FLEXVENT overlap sides elimi-
nates the 'bag' of baggy 
boxers & gives a clean one 	se-- 
form fitting brief, without 
restricting pull. Front & back 
move independently with 
leg movement. Of durable 
sailcloth. contrast trim. Avail. 
able in even vies. Order by 
waist sire. $10. Ad SI for 
handling & prompt 	•- 

BRAWN 
of cAlifoRNiA 

How Many,  . _ Waist size 
CJ Whitarcenwast trim E Illuarceetrasit tine 
fl Aed/cootrest trim 

Name 	  

Address 	  

City/Stale 	  

DO 	  

Out. L411 
!EMI Lotus S Feet 
Sae Diego, CA 92107 

No C.O.D.'S Please 

Tiro  
.4. 	_ 

I 't 

Whether you're suffering from the bother- 
some symptoms, or Jock Itch t T inea cruris). you 
should be using Cruex' Medicated Spray Powaer. 

Cruex soothes itchy, inflamed skin. Absorbs 
perspiration_ Helps cusnion against further 
irritation. And, medicated Cruex is strong enougn 
to help prevent the fungous infection that can. 
develop. 

Since Cruex is a spray powder, it penetrates 
into hard-to-reach places. wnnout mess, without 
pain. Get relief--fast. Avoic emoarrassing itch, too. 
With Cruex. Sootnirlg, coaling Cruex. 

So good it has this guarantee: it not totally 
satisfied. just return the unused portion to manu-
facturer for full refund. 

Cruex 
Guaranteed to work or your money back. 

11. 1,1L1171 
medicated spray panda 

(77.5-111  

 

O 1974 lastaascratt czenumer Prooucts A PRODUCT OF • IlitiAwAif CORPORATION 

ward do you live in?" they used to ask 
him; he lived in no ward; a ward is 
a Mormon parish. The experience made 
him into a kind of Jew. But he could 
not imagine—the fifth day of the war! 
—what it meant to belong to a people 
that was, even its he talked business. 
struggling not to die. He heard me out. 
and turned silent. I embarrassed him. 
All that Ethnic Anguish flooding out on 
him was something he, with whatever 
goodwill, could not take hold of. 

It was as if someone in my family 
had died: a personal loss. "You must be 
feeling very bad"—a model letter of 
condolence front a self-exempted half-
Jewish writer. Her letter came from a 
writers colony. She was at work. 

Work! The whole ground of life—
purpose, ambition, breakfast, getting 
the carpenter to come—all fallen into 
ash. Survival the single obsession. 
Work! If Israel burned, we here would 
turn into pillars of ash. 

Who, then, was thinking about the 
death of Jews? Only Jews; the mass of 
Jews; that undistinguished tract of or-
dinariness whom Chaim Weizmann 
must have meant when he said. not 
without rancor, "Our Jewish masses are 
as the dust of the earth." The Jews of 
dust, of ordinariness: alone with each 
other. Day by day it became more and 
more plain how alone—the aloneness of 
those who feel themselves condemned; 
the aloneness of, after so much Amer-
ica, the stranger. And all the time free! 
Home! In safety! Oh. the huddling of 
those days. We went to synagogues, to 
rallies, in a manynesa that was as the 
dust of the earth. 

But the illustrious Jews—those who 
like to say "Hadassah Indies" with half 
a bored smile--stayed away from the 
synagogues and the rallies. You did not 
see them there. Not the critic who had 
written passionately on the holocaust: 
not the critic who reminded "sophisti-
cated" Jews of their obligation toward 
survival; not the political thinker who 
only a week before had expressed in a 
famous financial journal his horror at 
the new war; not any of the dozens of 
freedom-fighter academics always found 
as signatories to humanitarian wirer-
tisenients. Even now, the intellectuals. 
no matter to what degree they newly 
see themselves as implicated In the 
Jewish fate, shrink front those Jews 
who are, who must be, the pulse and 
sinew of the Jewish people. 

Breadth versus narrowness, these 
Jewish intellectuals say, Palaces in 
preference to history's closet. the spe-
cious periphery rather than the invisi-
ble point at the center. "One does not 
think with his blond," they say, as if 
scrutiny of any Jewish interest would 
put one's brain in danger of engorge-
ment. 

Elite fastidiousness, some of this: but 
the real meaning of all of it is this: In 
order to br noticed, I mast not notice 
wort,. 

And Gentile intellectuals? The writ-
ers? Those who work assiduously for 
Amnesty International, for example. or 
the members of P.E.N.. an organization 
dedicated to the humanist solidarity of 

writers. which canceled its internation- 
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